
For Eskom, 2013 signifies 90 years in the business of 
generating and supplying electricity to South Africa and the 
region. It is a significant milestone, placing us one decade 

away from celebrating our centenary.

The decade ahead, with the demands and challenges that the 
electricity industry faces, will probably be the most important 
in Eskom’s history. The people of Eskom are the Guardians of 
what has been built by generations of employees and leaders, 
from our company’s birth in 1923 until today. 

We are the Guardians of Eskom’s spirit of enterprise  
and innovation and the continuing commitment to 
deliver according to expectation, leading and partnering 
to provide sustainable electricity solutions. We are 
Guardians of the history and future of Eskom.

Zola Tsotsi 
Chairman

Brian Dames
Chief Executive
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Establishment & Consolidation
1923

to
1933

Headquarters moved to 
Electricity House 

in 1924.

ESCOM’s � rst headquarters, 
Hofman’s Building, 
Johannesburg.

First Chairman of ESCOM, 
Dr Hendrik J van der Bijl. 

“There lies before the Electricity Supply Commission 
a great task and a great opportunity. It will be our 

endeavour to play our part not as those who follow 
where others lead, but as pioneers; to foresee the needs 

of a country fast developing, and by wise anticipation 
be ever ready to provide power without pro� t, 

wherever it may be required.”

Electricity was � rst 
produced in South Africa in 
the 1880s.

The � rst small power stations were built 
in the late 1890s to supply electricity to 
the gold mines on the Witwatersrand (known 
today as Gauteng). By 1915 four thermal 
power stations had been built to meet the 
growing electricity demands of the mines and 
the new mining towns. 

The railways were also being electri� ed 
and additional power stations were 
planned to meet their demand.

Independent power producers were responsible 
for the early development of electricity in 
South Africa but in 1922 the Electricity Act 
was passed. The South African government 
said that the provision of electricity should 
be a public service under its authority. The 
government established ESCOM the next year.

In 1924 ESCOM granted a bicycle allowance of  
7 pennies to of� ce assistant A.L. Kolver who 

was allowed to use this bicycle to travel to and 
from work. Later in the year the company’s 
� rst car scheme was introduced with a car 

allowance of twelve pounds a month.

The � rst automatic pop-up toaster was marketed in 1925.

ESCOM’s purpose in the � rst decade

ESCOM was responsible for establishing and 
maintaining electricity supply undertakings, 

on a regional basis, for the whole of South Africa. 

Electricity was to be supplied ef� ciently, cheaply and 
abundantly to government departments, railways and 

harbours, local authorities (municipalities) and industry.

Kimberley switched on electric 
street lights in September 1882.

Telegraph

New York Stock Exchange crashes!

Beginning of the “Great Depression”.

Telegraph

There was massive migration 
from the rural areas to the 
cities in the 1920s.

Telegraph

South Africa was ready for rapid 
development. The gold mining 

industry was growing fast, 
producing more than half of the 
world’s gold. South Africa was 
one of the top ten producers 
of other valuable minerals and 
metals.  The mining industries 
were the foundation for South 
Africa’s economic growth and a 
consolidated electricity industry 
was required. There was a great 
demand for electricity to power 
the production of gold, metals 

and minerals.

On the Witwatersrand and in other centres across the country the 
manufacturing industry was growing rapidly. Factories were built to supply the 
mines and towns. Harbours were built to handle the import of manufactured 

goods and the export of minerals and agricultural produce. Railways were built 
to serve the industrial centres and mines and to link industry to the ports. 

All this development required a consolidated electricity industry.

Cities and towns were growing rapidly. The retail and commercial sectors 
were developing fast too. There was an increasing demand for electricity 

to serve the urban areas.

New York Stock Exchange crashes!

1930
Witbank Power Station’s capacity increased to 100MW, making 
it the largest power station in South Africa, producing the 
cheapest electricity in the world. 

1929
ESCOM closed the year with electricity sales of approximately 800 million units.

Discovery of new gold-� elds on the West Rand and a rise in the gold price 
created increasing demand for electricity. ESCOM continued to grow.

ESCOM’s growth in the 1920s
1925: Cape Town, Witbank, Sabie, and Central Natal undertakings were established

1926: Colenso coal-� red power station commissioned  

1926: Witbank coal-� red power station commissioned  

1927: Sabie River Gorge hydro power station began commercial operation  

1928: Congella coal-� red power station commissioned

1928: Salt River coal-� red power station commissioned

Congella Power 
Station 1928

Salt River Power 
Station 1928

Sabie River Gorge Sabie River Gorge Sabie River Gorge 
Power Station Power Station Power Station 1927

Colenso Power 
Station 1926Station 1926

Witbank Power
Station 1926

Eskom was born on the 1st of March 1923 as the Electricity Supply Commission (ESCOM).
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Rising to the challengeRising to the challenge
1933

to
1943

In this decade, South Africa expected ESCOM to supply electricity to contribute to growth.
In order to meet the ever-increasing demand, extensions were added to all existing power stations. Salt River Power Station 
more than doubled its size when two 20MW sets were added, and new power stations were added to the � eet.

1934
Construction of the new Klip Power Station began in 1934 adjacent to the Klip River and close to the 
Spring� eld coal mine to lower the cost of producing electricity. This was the � rst power station in South Africa 
to use cooling towers which were specially developed by ESCOM to cut down on the use of water. It came 
into operation in 1940 and was the biggest power station in the Southern Hemisphere.

Construction of Klip Power 
Station began in 1934.

The South African economy went into decline because of 
the Great Depression but in 1933, after the Gold Standard 
was abandoned, the price of gold continued to rise sharply 
which meant renewed and spectacular economic growth 

until 1939.

The high price of gold meant that the new gold-� elds of 
the West Rand were developed very rapidly. The mining 
industry contributed to the growth of other industries 

including the engineering, metal and manufacturing 
industries. The area of the Witwatersrand, which was to 

become known later as the Vaal Triangle, was fast becoming 
the industrial hub of South Africa. The demand for South 
African steel was so great that Iscor, established in 1928, 

was considering building a second plant. 

This mining and industrial growth created a much greater 
demand for electricity. In addition, urban development 
required electricity too, as did the plans to electrify the 
suburban railways of the Rand and the railway line from 

Johannesburg to Pretoria. The demand for electricity from 
ESCOM went up by 50% by 1936/37.

The Gold Standard which � xed the economies 
of countries to the price of gold was 
abandoned in 1932

Microphone 

1938
In 1938 construction began on the Vaal Power 
Station using the same design for cooling 
towers pioneered by Klip Power Station. 

The Second World War began in 1939. 
The result was a decline in growth and 
a shortage of supplies

Microphone 

The war years
The outbreak of war in 1939 prevented delivery to the Vaal Power 
Stationof three radial-� ow generating sets which had been ordered 
from Sweden. Although replacement turbines were manufactured in 
Britain and shipped to South Africa, the completion of the Vaal Power 
Station had been delayed.

During the war years, the demand for electricity slowed considerably. 
Fuel and spare parts were scarce and ESCOM had to rise to the 
challenge to keep the country supplied with electricity. It required 
co-operation with the municipal power stations and other small 
generators in the country that were still independent of ESCOM.

1937
The success of ESCOM in the decade from 1933 to 1943 was evident with the 
construction and opening of ESCOM HOUSE in Johannesburg. Of� cially opened 
in 1937, it was the Electricity Supply Commission’s new headquarters.  At twenty 
one storeys, it was the tallest building in South Africa.

The main entrance hall of 
ESCOM HOUSE

Chairman’s private 
dining room

Hall of achievement from 
the mezzanine showing 

the upper exhibition baysThe cooling towers of the Klip Power Station and 
Vaal Power Station were the tallest structures in 
South Africa – even taller than ESCOM HOUSE

Microphone 

The lecture theatre in ESCOM HOUSE 
was equipped with what was described 
in the 1937 annual report as, “a modern 
sound-motion picture projector specially 
adapted for lecture purposes”.

The bene� ts of electricity in the home were still new to consumers, so ESCOM HOUSE featured a permanent 
exhibition of approved domestic electrical appliances like stoves, fridges and electric heaters. Trained staff 
demonstrated the appliances to the public and gave information. These included cooking demonstrations 

which were also taken to towns and villages across the country.







A giant in the world of power
1963

to
1973

Giants rise in the east
The coal� elds in the Highveld region of Mpumalanga  

became the new centre for electricity generation. 
Here, a new breed of giant power stations was born.

Because of ever-increasing demand, the time had come 
to build power stations with 100 and 125 MW sets. 

Komati had led the way in 1962, to be followed 
by Camden, Grootvlei, Hendrina and Arnot during 

the 1963–1973 decade. 

These giants in the east were the largest 
concentration of power ever seen in the country.  

This was a period in which South Africa’s economic growth was among the highest in the world.  
The country’s growth was re� ected in the rate at which ESCOM grew too. 

Hendrina: � rst went into 
commercial service in 1970.

Arnot: � rst went into 
commercial service in 1971.

Camden: � rst went into 
commercial service in 1967.

Grootvlei: � rst went into 
commercial service in 1969.

1963
The period, 1963–1973 began with 
Dr RL Straszacker as the new 
Chairman of ESCOM.

1966
Rosherville Power Station stopped 

generating and became a site 
housing central stores.

In 1969, ESCOM hired its � rst female 
engineer when Marie Talitha Potgieter 
joined the Umgeni Test Department

FM Radio

In 1971 ESCOM’s Medical Aid 
Society was  inaugurated

FM Radio

Grootvlei pioneered the use of a 
dry-cooling tower system in 1966

FM Radio

Hendrina Power Station consisted of 
ten units and had the longest turbine 
hall of any ESCOM power station

FM Radio

In the 1960s major ESCOM substations 
like Apollo, Poseidon and Hydra were 
named after ancient Greek gods

FM Radio

Late in the decade, more and more 
of ESCOM’s new high-voltage 
transmission towers appeared, like 
giants striding across the landscape. 
To many people these towers 
conveyed a sense of excitement 
and con� dence about the country’s 
growth prospects.

Beginning in 1969, ESCOM’s 
countrywide, high-voltage network 
advanced in stages of up to 450 km 
at a time.

In 1973, in ESCOM’s � ftieth year 
of existence, the construction of the 
national grid was completed; a 25 000 
km network of power lines. ESCOM 
had truly become a giant in the world 
of electricity generation, transmission 
and distribution.

The � rst phase was a 400 kV line 
linking Camden Power Station to 
the Atlas Substation near Vereeniging

The 400 kV line then continued 
to Hydra Substation near De Aar 
in the Northern Cape

Then the line travelled 250 km across 
the Karoo to Droërrivier Substation 
near Beaufort West

The line was then extended to Perseus 
Substation in the Free State, 300 km 
to the south, from where 275 kV lines 
were built to the Cape Northern 
Undertaking and to Bloemfontein

From Beaufort West, the high-voltage
towers marched another 450 km to 
Muldersvlei Substation near Cape Town 
and, by August 1970, the route of the 
400 kV line from Camden to Cape Town 
covered a distance of 1500 km

Giants striding across the country

1972
The Central Generating Undertaking (CGU) was 

established, effectively pooling the generating 
system. It was more cost-effective and created 

the conditions for building large power stations 
to meet the total needs of the national grid.

1971
ESCOM’s new hydro power station 
built at the huge Gariep Dam 
(previously Hendrik Verwoerd) 
bordering Eastern Cape and Free 
State, went into commercial service.

A challenge to growth
The mining industry grew and iron-ore, steel 
and coal exports expanded. The demand for 

electricity continued to grow but growth prospects 
had become one of the challenges ESCOM 

had to deal with in this decade.

There was world pressure on South Africa because 
of apartheid, making it less certain that ESCOM would 

be able to secure loans to build power stations and 
infrastructure in the decade to come. To address 

this, ESCOM charged increasingly higher tariffs and 
placed a portion of the revenue into the Capital 

Development Fund.  This presented another challenge 
as ESCOM had to justify price increases in 

the face of negative public reaction.

Greater power, greater responsibility
1973

to
1983

In 1973, ESCOM’s 50th anniversary year, demand grew by almost 12% and average growth for the 
rest of the decade, until 1982, was around 9% per year. ESCOM had become a consolidated utility 
with a huge responsibility to the nation and there were challenges ahead.
• New giant power stations were added to the � eet – Kriel, Matla and Duvha – but there were teething problems which included 

disintegrating fans, issues with boiler pressure and unacceptable levels of dust emissions.

• Running a nationwide interconnected system also presented new challenges. Previously, system problems were con� ned to small 
areas and power could be restored quickly.  Now, much larger areas were affected and it took much longer to restore power 
as well as public con� dence. 

September 1981: a severe snowstorm 
in the Highveld region caused peak 
demand and affected generation. Large 
industrial consumers and some towns 
lost electricity supply

FM Radio

December 1982: four bombs 
exploded in the Koeberg plant, 
delaying its completion until 1984

FM Radio

Kriel, Matla and Duvha had the common feature of six 
identical units with the tall boiler houses towering over the � at 
Mpumalanga landscape.  They soon became known as “the six-
pack power stations”.

Dramatic oil price increases in 1976 
affected the world economy and 
resulted in slow growth in South Africa

FM Radio

1976
Construction began on Koeberg, the � rst 

and only nuclear power station on the 
African continent. It was modelled on a 

French nuclear power station but designed 
to be much more resistant to earthquakes. 

Rising to the challenges, raising the bar

The challenges that ESCOM experienced led to the introduction of performance measurement 
systems on the main transmission network and the diversi� cation of ESCOM’s power 
generation capabilities. They also led to innovation, with Duvha’s � rst three units retro� tted 
with bag � lters to signi� cantly reduce particulate emissions. 

Peaking and pumped storage power

ESCOM decided that the interconnected system 
needed emergency generation at strategic points to 
address the problem of system shut-downs that left 
entire regions without power. 

• In 1976, this resulted in the building of the gas-turbine 
power stations Acacia (Western Cape) and Port Rex 
(Eastern Cape). These stations could be operated by 
remote control from the National Control Centre to 
provide backup for peaking demand and black-start 
capability in emergency situations. 

• Another addition to ESCOM’s generation capabilities 
was the Drakensburg pumped storage power 
station.  It was part of a project to transfer water 
over the Drakensberg from the Tugela to the  Vaal 
River.  Construction on the project began in 1974 
and the power station was completed in 1981. It 
was constructed 52 storeys underground and was 
designed to supply 1 000 MW of electricity during 
peak periods. The construction of Palmiet pumped 
storage power station began in 1983.  The machine hall at Drakensberg Power Station.

1977
Megawatt Park, ESCOM’s 
new head of� ce was opened. 

1980
Mr Jan H. Smith succeeded 
Dr Straszacker as 
ESCOM’s Chairman.
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